é 2 0 Ú

#69194-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

SCOTT C TOWNLEY and STEPHANIE A TASHIRO-TOWNLEY, Defendants/Appellants

VS.

BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, f/k/a BANK OF NEW YORK, TRUSTEE FOR CERTIFICATE HOLDERS CWABS, INC. ASSET BACKED CERTIFICATES, 2005-10, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., AND OCWEN LOAN SERVICING LLC

Plaintiffs/Respondents

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from King County Superior Court Case No: 12-2-06921-2 KNT
The Honorable LeRoy McCullough

Stephanie A Tashiro-Townley 25437 167 PI SE Covington, WA 98042 (425) 413-2637 Defendant / Appellant (pro se).

A. Assignments of Error:

1. The Trial Court erred in denial of Townley's request for a jury trial per RCW 59.12.130 (See Verbatim Transcript of 5-17-12, pg 10, ll 4-11), thus violating their constitutional right to trial namely, Washington State Constitution, Article 1, section 21. Furthermore, facts and issues have been properly preserved as Stephanie Tashiro-Townley stated on May 17, 2012:

"This new day we're asking for the Court to grant us a jury trial per 59.12.130 that would allow us to go in with all of the facts, and allow them to also come in with their facts, and then have it decided. The sale did not – it could not be completed because it could not be perfected. The sale did not – it could not be completed because it could not be perfected and thus we are still sitting here with the facts that are undisputed by plaintiff."

(RP of 5-17-12).

2. The Trial Court erred in granting the Writ of Restitution when Commissioner Hollis Hill stated on the May 17th, 2012 verbatim report:

"You may have filed an objection, but it wasn't appropriate, it didn't happen. The sale went through. At this point you don't own the property anymore. And basically possession of this residence is not in it for

you. Your only opportunity is going to be damages, if you can prove damages. And that's a totally separate action.

Given all the information before the Court, it is appropriate for the Court to enter the writ of restitution under these circumstances." (RP of 5-17-12, pg 15, II 17 to pg 16, II 3).

3. The Trial Court erred in dismissing the Counter and Cross Complaint given the equitable defenses filed in the Answer and then the Objection to the Unlawful Detainer. The Commissioner stated in the verbatim report of the May 17th hearing,

"And I will at this point dismiss the counter and cross claims because they're not appropriately filed within this writ of restitution action."

(RP of 5-17-12, pg 16, II 3-6).

69194-5-I

4. The Trial Court erred in denying the Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Injunction (order at CP#61-62) when Judge McCullough stating that the limited nature of the Eviction (RCW 59.12) proceeding prevented him from addressing any issues found within the Petition for Declaratory Judgment per RCW 7.24.

- The Trial Court erred in denying both the Motion for Reconsideration of the Denial of the Petition for Declaratory
 Judgment and Motion for Revision of Commissioners Orders.
- The Trial Court erred in not reviewing the undisputed facts of improper commencement and irregularities by the Bank of New York Mellon, MERS and Ocwen Loan Servicing, including equitable defenses directly impacting to issue of title in the Unlawful Detainer.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error:

- 1. Whether the new issue Constitutional question pertaining to Washington State Constitution, Article 1, Section 21 shall be considered given the jurisdiction of this Court and the recent Supreme Court rulings (Albice v. Dickinson on May 24, 2012 and Bain v. Mortgage Electronic Systems Inc. et al on August 16, 2012) (Assignments of Error 1-6)
- 2. If, based on the Bain and Albice decisions and facts consistent with these rulings, are grounds for vacating the writ of restitution and granting that the case be remanded?

69194-5-I Appellant Brief Page 3

(Assignments of Error 1, 2 and 5)

- 3. If, based on the Supreme Court decisions in Bain v.
 Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems et al, Cox v.
 Helenius and Albice v. Dickinson decisions and facts in this case consistent with these rulings, void the sale and transfer?
 (Assignments of Error 1, 4, 5, and 6)
- 4. If this matter be remanded for further proceedings allowing Townleys to reinstatement of the counter and cross complaint in a civil docket due to equitable defenses within pleadings focusing on possession, irregularities, and improper invocation of RCW 61.24 et seq including the CPA claims within the complaint? (Assignments of Error 3)

C. Statement of the Case.

Background

69194-5-I

Defendants, Scott C Townley and Stephanie A Tashiro-Townley otherwise known as Townleys, are owners of a single family home in Maple Valley, Washington (Townleys' home) purchased in 1996. In 2005, Townleys refinanced with Countrywide Mortgage. Townleys paid

Countrywide until early 2008 when the servicer changed from Countrywide to Litton Loan. Townleys believed that they were paying loan payments to Countrywide Mortgage (the noteholder) until the Notice of Default.

In 2008, Townleys failed business impacting mortgage payments to the servicer, Litton Loan Servicing. Townleys attempted to get loan modification until around July 2009 when the loan modification was formally denied.

Townleys received an unsigned Notice of Default on July 8, 2009 taped on their garage with an unknown entity, Bank of New York Mellon as the mortgagor and listed as the party issuing the default (CP 65, Ex A). Northwest Trustee Services operated as the Trustee.

The Assignment of Deed of Trust assigning the Deed of Trust from Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems Inc. (MERS) to Bank of New York Mellon (Bank of New York Mellon) was not dated until after the Notice of Default had been taped to the door, on July 17, 2009 and filed until July 24, 2009 (See the Assignment of Deed of Trust at *CP 11*, *Affidavit of Lynn Szymoniak, Ex A*).

The Appointment of Successor Trustee from LandSafe Title to

69194-5-I Appellant Brief Page 5

Northwest Trustee Services was not dated until after the Notice of Default had been taped to the door, on July 20, 2009 and filed July 24, 2009 (See the Appointment of Successor Trustee at *CP 11, Affidavit of Lynn Szymoniak, Ex B*). Notice of Sale was filed on August 21, 2009 (CP 30, page 14).

Townleys filed a Chapter 13 in the United States Bankruptcy Court in Western Washington in Seattle on or about late November, 2009. Bank of New York Mellon filed a Motion for Relief of Stay on or around April, 2010 in the US Bankruptcy Court. Townleys filed a Response to the Motion for Relief of Stay. On June 8, 2010, then Chief Judge Karen Overstreet stated that the Note attached to the Motion for Relief of Stay did not prove ownership by Bank of New York Mellon. An order was documented on the docket dated 6/11/2010 for the case (#09-22120) (CP 11, Declaration, Ex A) that

"The Bank will get a certified copy of the original note holder with a declaration and file it with the Court and send a copy to the debtors.

(CP 11, Declaration, Ex A, 6/11/2010 Minute Rulting / Order)

This order was never completed and no certified copy of the original note holder was served on the Townleys.

69194-5-I Appellant Brief Page 6

The affidavit filed by Litton Loan's Richard Williams (CP 11, Declaration, Ex B) clearly stated that Litton Loan nor the bank possessed the Note at that time, over a year later after the Notice of Default had been issued (CP 65, Ex A). Townleys filed an Objection to Claim on August 18, 2010 and scheduled it to be heard on October 7, 2010 at the same time they filed an Answer to the Trustees' Motion to Deny Confirmation of Plan and Dismiss the Case. The case was dismissed prior to Judge Overstreet's order was addressed. Townleys timely appealed to the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel in 2010 and then timely appealed to the Ninth Circuit of Appeals in 2011. The briefs for this appeal are currently under review by the Ninth Circuit of Appeals.

After the dismissal by the US Bankruptcy Court, Townleys received an Amended Notice of Sale dated on or about September 7, 2010. Townleys filed a Complaint on October 22, 2010 and finally docketed in November. Townleys served the Complaint as a courtesy to Northwest Trustee on October 22 by and through a service agent. The sale was placed on hold and rescheduled to December 3, 2010, 94 days after the date of the Amended Notice of Sale.

On November 8th, Litton Loan Servicing and Bank of New York

69194-5-I Appellant Brief Page 7

Mellon sent letters stating that the sale was on hold (CP 11, Declaration, Ex E).

On November 30, 2010, Townleys informed Bank of New York Mellon and Northwest Trustee of a Lis Pendens that the Townleys were filing at the King County Records office (CP 11, Declaration, Ex F). Townleys received a letter from the Bank of New York Mellon attorney that the sale would continue; thus, allowing them only 3 days to enjoin the sale.

On December 3, 2010, Townleys informed all investors and the auctioneer of the contesting of the sale and the active Federal District Court lawsuit. On December 3, 2010, the house reverted back to the alleged lender, Bank of New York Mellon. Trustees Deed was issued on December 10, 2010.

Townleys continued writing, serving and filing pleadings in Federal District Court until September 23, 2011, when the Motion of Reconsideration regarding the dismissal of the case was filed by Judge Coughenour. Townleys timely filed a Notice of Appeal to the Ninth Circuit in the Federal District Case.

In late November, 2011, Townleys uncovered an experienced

69194-5-I Appellant Brief Page 8

fraud examiner who reviewed the Assignment of Deed of Trust and Appointment of Successor Trustee for evidence of "robo-signing", illegal, improper activity performed by banks to push through paperwork without the proper safeguards for both homeowner or bank. An affidavit of fraud was written by Lynn Szymoniak (CP 11, Affidavit of Lynn Szymoniak). Townleys also contacted the Securities and Exchange Commission to obtain the Pooling and Servicing Agreement (PSA) regarding the alleged trust that Bank of New York Mellon stated that they represented in the foreclosure (CWL, Inc. Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2005-10). Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) found no trust by that name (CP 65, Ex B and Ex C).

Townleys filed a Motion for Relief per FRCP 60 with the new evidence of fraud and additional corroborative evidence of fraud on March 8, 2012. The motion was denied. Townleys have timely filed their brief in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals on September 2012.

Procedural Facts

In February 24, 2012, a Summons and Complaint for Unlawful Detainer, Bank of New York Mellon, Trustee for CWABS, Inc. Asset-

Backed Certificates, 2005-10, in King County Superior Court. CP 1 and 3.

Defendants, Scott C Townley and Stephanie A Tashiro-Townley otherwise known as Townleys, were owners of a single family home in Maple Valley, Washington (Townleys' home). (CP 1 and 3).

Townleys filed a Motion requesting a change from Limited to General Proceeding on March 7, 2012 (CP 7). A declaration was also filed with this Motion with seven exhibits. The exhibits are the same as attached to the Declaration in Support of the Petition for Declaratory Judgment (CP 11 below).

Townleys served the Objection to the Unlawful Detainer (CP 10) and the Petition for Declaratory Judgment on March 8, 2012 (CP 11). A Declaration in Support with the following exhibits was also filed on the same day (CP 11): Certified Transcript of 6/11/2010 hearing from US Bankruptcy Case #09-22120 (CP 11, Declaration, Ex A), Affidavit of Richard Williams of Litton Loan (CP 11, Declaration, Ex B), official docket for US Bankruptcy case #09-22120, #33, 36, and 37 respectively (CP 11, Declaration, Ex C), Certified Transcript of 8/26/2010 hearing from Bankruptcy Case #09-22120 (CP 11, Declaration, Ex D), Letters from Bank of New York Mellon attorney and Litton Loan dated November 8th Appellant Brief

(CP 11, Declaration, Ex E), Letter from Bank of New York Mellon attorney on November 30th (CP 11, Declaration, Ex F), and case docket for C10-1720 (CP 11, Declaration, Ex G). The Affidavit of Lynn Szymoniak and Declaration of Expert Cheye Larson were filed with the Petition (CP 11) were also attached to the Petition for Declaratory Judgment.

In the Affidavit of Lynn Szymoniak, Ms. Szymoniak stated,

"In thousands of Assignments I have examined, new "replacement" Assignments have been prepared and presented to Courts without any disclosure to the Court or to the Homeowner / Defendants that the original Assignments were lost. Many of these Assignments were prepared by Litton Loan Servicing. Countrywide Trusts, including the CWL Trust herein, are among the Trusts that are unable to produce the original Assignments and regularly Attempt to substitute Assignments prepared by mortgage servicing companies. The Bank of New York Mellon, the trustee herein, frequently cannot or has not produced the Assignments to the Trust supposedly obtained by the Trustee at the inception of the Trust "

(CP 11 – Affidavit of Lynn Szymoniak, pg 11, #20)

Affiant Szymoniak goes on to state in her conclusion, that

"For all of the reasons set forth above, it is my opinion that the mortgage documents identified as Exs A (Assignment of Deed of Trust) and B (Appointment of Successor Trustee) are fraudulent."

(CP 11 – Affidavit of Lynn Szymoniak, pg 13, #25)

In the Declaration of Expert Cheye Larson, the

"Given the evidence of mortgage fraud records removal in the MERS database, I declare the evidence documented above to be corroborative and supportive of the direct business fraud evidence by Expert Szymoniak. I also declare that all records from teh defendants in the above captioned case need to be subpoenaed and depositions taken to determine the level of fraud and collusion involved. Finally, I declare after my review of all relevant documentation that it is my opinion that I could find no proof of legal affiliation by Bank of New York Mellon nor the Trust."

(CP 11 – Declaration of Expert Cheye Larson, pg 4, Il 15-19)

Townleys also filed an Objection to the Unlawful Detainer (CP 8),
Answer and Affirmative Defenses (CP 12) on March 13, 2012. A Motion
for Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law was filed on April 6, 2012
(CP 15) with a Notice to the Clerk regarding Missing Exhibits (CP 14).

A Counter and Cross Complaint fee was paid and the pleading filed on April 6, 2012 (CP 16). The causes of action within the complaint

were:

- VIOLATIONS OF CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (and violations of RCW 5, 9, 9A, 10, 18, and 19)
- COMMON LAW (FRAUD) CLAIM
- MORTGAGE FRAUD CLAIM involving MERS and HSBC

The Bank of New York Mellon's Motion to Issue the Writ of Restitution was filed on May 1, 2012 (CP 29) to be heard on May 17, 2012. Bank of New York Mellon also filed several supporting documents including an Affidavit of counsel representing Bank of New York Mellon, Scott Grigsby (CP 30). Within the 40 page document, is a Notice of Sale (CP 30, pg 14) which clearly stated the following:

"Grantors: Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. The Bank of New York Mellon f/k/a The Bank of New York as Trustee for the Certificateholders CWL, Inc. Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2005-10"

And

"which is subject to that certain Deed of Trust dated 07/26/05, recorded on 08/01/05, under Auditor's File No. 2005080102392, records of King County, Washington, from Stephanie A Tashiro-Townley, and Scott C Townley, wife and husband, as Grantor, to Landsafe Title of Washington, as Trustee to secure an obligation "Obligation" in favor of Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., solely as nominee for Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., as Beneficiary, the beneficial interest in which was assigned by Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems,

Inc. to The Bank of New York Mellon f/k/a The Bank of New York as Trustee for the Certificateholders CWL, Inc. Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2005-10, under an Assignment / Successive Assignments recorded under Auditor's File No. 20090724001895."

(See Notice of Sale at CP 30, pg 14)

On May 7, 2012, Defendants re-filed Petition for Declaratory Judgment (CP 40), Motion to Change Proceedings from Limited to General (CP 41), and Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss (CP 42). On May 9, 2012, Plaintiffs filed a Response to Defendants Petition (CP 47) with a Declaration (CP 48), a Response to Defendants Motion to Change Proceedings from Limited to General (CP 49). Objection was filed on May 9, 2012 (CP 52). Townleys filed a Reply to the Objection on May 10, 2012 (CP 57). The Petition for Declaratory Judgment was heard on May 11, 2012 with the Motion to change from limited to general proceeding, motion to strike and motion to dismiss counter and cross complaint.

The Motion to Change from Limited to General Proceeding was denied (CP 61), and the Petition for Declaratory Judgment was denied (CP 62) due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The Motion to Strike

was denied (CP 63).

On May 15, 2012, Townleys filed a Response to Motion for Writ of Restitution (CP 65). In addition to the Response, Townleys filed the Declaration in Support of the Response to the Motion for Writ of Restitution including the following exhibits: Notice of Default (CP 65, Ex A), Email and attached letters from Securities and Exchange Commission (CP 65, Ex B), Email from Securities and Exchange Commission dated January 26, 2012 (CP 65, Ex C), docket from C10-1720 (CP 65, Ex D), and corroborating complaint filed against top five (5) banks regarding improper business practices including "robo signing" (CP 65, Ex E) and audit (CP 65, Ex F).

On May 17, 2012, Commissioner Hollis Hill signed orders to dismiss the Counter and Cross Complaints (CP 69) and for Plaintiff's Writ of Restitution (CP 70).

Townleys filed the Motion for Reconsideration (CP 73) and Motion for Stay of Writ of Restitution on May 21, 2012 (CP 74). On May 25, 2012, Bank of New York Mellon filed a Response to Motion for Stay (CP 76) and Response to Motion for Reconsideration (CP 78).

Townleys were evicted in late May with their four children and

were homeless until finding a residence on June 6, 2012. On May 30, 2012, Townleys filed a Motion for Revision of Commissioners Orders (CP 81), Motion to Extend Time (CP 83), Statement of Additional Authorities (CP 84), and the Notice of Appeal regarding only the Writ of Restitution (CP 87). Bank of New York Mellon filed a response to Motion for Revision on June 5, 2012 (CP 95).

Townleys filed a Reply to Bank of New York Mellon"s Response to the Motion for Revision on June 7, 2012 (CP 96). On July 13, 2012, the Motion for Reconsideration and Motion for Revision came before the court. Orders denying the Motion for Revision (CP 105) and Motion for Reconsideration (CP 106) were issued. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on August 10, 2012.

D. Argument.

Raising a Constitutional prohibitive language violation for the first time is proper; also, these facts are new and were not available to Townleys at their hearing.

AS SIMILARLY SITUATED INDIVIDUALS THE COURT'S EVICTION OF HOMEOWNER TOWNLEYS THAT GRANTED BENEFITS TO MOVANT WHO IS A QUASI GOVERNMENT ENTITY(S) STANDS SUFFICIENTLY TO SUSTAIN CONSTITUTIONAL EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW VIOLATION.

CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION: EQUAL PROTECTION and RECENT COURT DECISIONS IN LIGHT OF BAIN DECISION

The appeal centers on parties (Bank of New York Mellon, MERS, and Ocwen Loan Servicing) from benefiting from their improper acts and improperly invoking the Deed Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.) and wrongfully foreclosing on the Townleys in this case. Townleys rely on the language provided in the recent August 16, 2012 Bain v. Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems (et al) opinion which stated,

> "A plain reading of the statute leads us to conclude that only the actual holder of the promissory note or other instrument evidencing the obligation may be a beneficiary with the power to appoint a trustee to proceed with a nonjudicial foreclosure on real property. Simply put, if MERS does not hold the note, it is not a lawful beneficiary."

Id Bain v. Mortgage Electronic Registration, Inc. et al, Spreme Court case # 86206-1, (August 16, 2012)

With MERS only on the Deed of Trust as beneficiary, any benefits oppositional parties obtained are void, e.g., the transfer of Townleys' home out of Townleys name is void and new constitutional issues recently surfaced allowing Townleys to raise the issue before this Court (Court of Appeals, Division I).

The facts show a similarly situated homeowner, one Micah Schnall, eviction was stopped until the Appeal was resolved. The only difference is Townleys direct appeal sits before Ninth Circuit Court and Mr. Schnall sits before Division One.

Of relevance, is Mr. Schnall did not appeal the Unlawful Detainer action because his eviction was stayed pending outcome of his direct appeal. Townleys are before this court because (though similarly situated individuals to Schnall) their eviction was not stopped despite filing a Motion to the Stay the Eviction pending the outcome of the Federal District Appeal in Ninth Circuit.

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