CASE NO. 69194-5-I COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEPHANIE TASHIRO-TOWNLEY; and SCOTT C. TOWNLEY Appellants

VS.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as Trustee for the
Certificateholders CWL, Inc. Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2005-10,
FKA Bank of New York; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC
REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.; and OCWEN LOAN SERVICING,
LLC
Respondents

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Appeal from Judgment of King County Superior Court Case No.: 12-2-06921-2 KNT The Honorable Leroy McCullough The Honorable Hollis

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case where the Townleys obtained a \$297,000 mortgage loan and defaulted on the loan beginning January 2009. The Townleys do not dispute that they were over \$16,000 in arrears when the Property was sold at a foreclosure sale to Bank of New York Mellon on December 3, 2010. Instead, the Townleys contend that the foreclosure was improper due to alleged violations of the Washington Deed of Trust Act. However, the Townleys have improperly raised the claims in the unlawful detainer action where the Superior Court lacks jurisdiction to hear claims outside

the context of possession. Thus, the Townleys' attempts to challenge the foreclosure sale were all correctly dismissed.

On appeal, the Townleys do not dispute that the Trial Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to rule on the claims outside of the context of possession. Instead, the Townleys assert arguments regarding the foreclosure proceedings, the same arguments that have been filed and dismissed by the Court in the United States District Court Western District of Washington, Case No. C10-1720. CP 32, Exhibit "1" to Grigsby's Declaration. Notwithstanding, the arguments still fail to raise any assignments of error in the Trial Court's proceedings.

Specifically, the Court should dismiss the appeal for the following reasons: (1) There is no dispute that Bank of New York Mellon purchased the Subject Property at a trustee's sale; (2) the Townleys failed to perfect the procedures to timely file an appeal as to the Orders dismissing the Counter and Cross Complaint, the Order granting Writ of Restitution and Order denying Townleys' Motion for Revision of Commissioner's Order of Writ of Restitution based on the Townleys' request for jury trial; and (3) The claims for declaratory and injunctive relief are precluded from RCW 61.24 and are outside the scope of the superior court's subject matter jurisdiction in an unlawful detainer action. Accordingly, the Townleys' appeal should be dismissed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order dismissing a complaint for failure to state a claim under Civil Rule 12(b)(6) is reviewed de novo. *In re Cedano*, 470 B.R. 522, 528 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2012) citing to *Ta Chong Bank Ltd. v. Hitachi High Techs. Am., Inc.*, 610 F.3d 1063, 1066 (9th Cir. 2010).

Subject matter jurisdiction over a controversy is a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. *Angelo Prop. Co., LP v. Hafiz,* 167 Wash. App. 789, 808 (2012). Parties cannot confer subject matter jurisdiction on the court by agreement between themselves; a court either has subject matter jurisdiction or it does not. *In re Marriage of Furrow,* 115 Wash.App. 661, 667 (2003). Lack of subject matter jurisdiction renders a Trial Court powerless to decide the merits of the case. *Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, LLC v. Friends of Skagit County,* 135 Wash.2d 542, 556, 958 P.2d 962 (1998). A judgment entered by a court lacking subject matter jurisdiction is void; and a party may challenge such judgment at any time. *Cole v. Harveyland LLC,* 163 Wash.App. 199, 205, 258 P.3d 70 (2011).

A decision to deny a motion for reconsideration is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Arrow Elecs., Inc. v. Justus (In re Kaypro)*, 218 F.3d 1070, 1073, (9th Cir. 2000). A two-part test is applied to determine objectively whether the Court abused its discretion. *United States v.*

Hinkson, 585 F.3d 1247, 1260 (9th Cir. 2009). The "first step is to determine de novo whether the Trial Court identified the correct legal rule to apply to the relief requested." *Id.* Second, "whether the Trial Court's resolution of the motion resulted from a factual finding that was (1) illogical, (2) implausible, or (3) without support in inferences that may be drawn from the facts in the record." *Id.* If any of these three apply, only then is the court of appeals able to have a "definite and firm conviction" that the district court reached a conclusion that was a "mistake" or was not among its "permissible" options, and thus that it abused its discretion by making a clearly erroneous finding of fact. *Id.*

B. THE TOWNLEYS' APPEAL AS TO THE ORDER GRANTING WRIT OF RESTITUTION AND MOTION TO DISMISS SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE IT IS UNTIMELY.

The Townleys seek to appeal various orders, including: (1) Order dismissing the Counter and Cross Complaint entered on May 17, 2012 (CP 69); (2) Order denying Petition for Declaratory Judgment entered on May 11, 2012 (CP 21); (3) Order denying the Townleys' motion for reconsideration of order denying petition for declaratory judgment entered on July 13, 2012 (CP 106); (4) Order granting Writ of Restitution entered on May 17, 2012 (CP 70); and (5) Order denying the Townleys' Motion

for Revision of Commissioner's Order of Writ of Restitution based on the Townleys' request for jury trial entered on July 13, 2012 (CP 105).

A party is allowed 30 days to file a notice of appeal after the entry of the decision of the Trial Court that the party filing the notice wants reviewed. RAP 5.2(a). This 30-day time limit can be extended due to some specific and narrowly defined circumstances. RAP 5.2(a). It can also be prolonged by the filing of "certain *timely* posttrial motions", including a motion for reconsideration and a motion for amendment of judgment under CR 59. *Moore v. Wentz*, 11 Wash.App. 796, 799, 525 P.2d 290 (1974); RAP 5.2(a), (e). A motion for reconsideration is timely only where a party both files and serves the motion within 10 days. CR 59(b). A Trial Court may not extend the time period for filing a motion for reconsideration. CR 6(b); *Moore v. Wentz*, 11 Wash.App. 796, 799, 525 P.2d 290 (1974).

Here, the Townleys filed a notice of appeal on August 10, 2012. CP 109. With the exception to the appeal as to the Court's order denying petition for declaratory judgment entered on May 11, 2012, the appeal as to the other orders are untimely. Specifically:

(1) The Townleys appeal as to the Order dismissing the Counter and Cross Complaint is untimely. An Order dismissing the Counter and Cross Complaint was entered on May 17, 2012. Pursuant to RAP 5.2(a),

the notice of appeal should have been filed no later than June 15, 2012. CP 69, 109. The Townleys did not file the Notice of Appeal as to this Order until August 10, 2012, 28 days past the allowable time limit. As such, the notice of appeal filed by the Townleys as to the order dismissing the Counter and Cross Complaint fails to perfect an appeal. The disposition of this case is governed by RAP 18.8(b), which states:

The appellate court will only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice extend the time within which a party must file a notice of appeal.... The appellate court will ordinarily hold that the desirability of finality of decisions outweighs the privilege of a litigant to obtain an extension of time under this section.

The Townleys have not provided sufficient excuse for their failure to file a timely notice of appeal or has demonstrated sound reasons to abandon the preference of finality. Thus, the Court should dismiss the appeal and/or uphold the Trial Court's Ordeer dismissing the Counter and Cross Complaint.

(2) The Townleys' appeal as to the Order granting Writ of Restitution is untimely. The Order granting Writ of Restitution was entered on May 17, 2012. CP 70. In order to expand the 30-day limit to file an appeal, the Townleys would need to file a motion for revision of the commissioner's order of writ of restitution within 10 days of the Order, or no later than March 18, 2012. RCW 2.24.050 states in relevant

part that, "unless a demand for revision is made within ten days from the entry of the order or judgment of the court commissioner, the orders and judgments shall be and become the orders and judgments of the superior court, and appellate review thereof may be sought in the same fashion as review of like orders and judgments entered by the court." The Townleys filed a Motion for Revision on May 30, 2012, twelve (12) days after entry of the Court's Order. CP 81. Because the Townleys' Motion for Revision was not timely, it did not extend the 30-time limit for filing the notice of appeal. See Schaefco, Inc. v. Columbia River George Comm'n, 121 Wash. 2d 366, 368 (1993) (dismissing the appeal as untimely since the late filing of a motion for reconsideration does not extend the 30-day limit for filing the notice of appeal). Thus, the Townleys' appeal filed on August 10, 2012 is 53 days past the allowable time limit.

C. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ISSUED AN ORDER FOR WRIT OF RESTITUTION BECAUSE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, AS PURCHASER OF THE PROPERTY AT THE TRUSTEE'S SALE, IS ENTITLED TO POSSESSION OF THE PROPERTY.

The Trial Court did not err when it issued an Order for Writ of Restitution and an Order denying the Townleys' Motion for Revision of Commissioner's Order for Writ of Restitution. As discussed above, the appeal is untimely as to these orders. Even if considered, the evidence clearly supports Bank of New York Mellon's right to possess the property.

Washington courts have generally not allowed parties to raise other claims, including counterclaims, when the Trial Court determines in an unlawful detainer action who is entitled to possess the property at issue.

Munden v Hazelrigg, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985); Kessler v.

Nielsen, 3 Wn. App. 120, 123-24, 472 P.2d 616 (1970).

In Angelo, the Washington Court of Appeals clarified that when the superior court hears an unlawful detainer action under RCW 59.12, it sits in a statutorily limited capacity and lacks authority to resolve issues outside the scope of the unlawful detainer statute:

An unlawful detainer action under *RCW* 59.12.030 is a summary proceeding designed to facilitate the recovery of possession of leased property; the primary issue for the Trial Court to resolve is the "right to possession" as between a landlord and a tenant. *Port of Longview v. Int'l Raw Materials, Ltd.*, 96 Wn. App. 431, 436, 979 P.2d 917 (1999); *see also Munden v. Hazelrigg*, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985). It is well settled in Washington that,

[i]n an unlawful detainer action, the court sits as a special statutory tribunal to summarily decide the issues authorized by statute and not as a court of general jurisdiction with the power to hear and determine other issues.

-

¹ RCW § 61.24.060 provides that a purchaser at a trustee's sale shall "have a right to the summary proceedings to obtain possession of real property provided in chapter 59.12 RCW."

Granat v. Keasler, 99 Wn.2d 564, 571, 663 P.2d 830, cert. denied, 464 U.S. 1018 (1983). Thus, an unlawful detainer action is a "narrow one, limited to the question of possession and related issues such as restitution of the premises and rent." Munden, 105 Wn.2d at 45.

If, however, an issue is not incident to the right to possession, the trial court must hear the issue in a general civil action. Kessler v. Nielsen, 3 Wn. App. 120, 123-24, 472 P.2d 616 (1970). In other words, although a superior court is normally a court of general jurisdiction and it may resolve most civil claims, when the superior court hears an unlawful detainer action under RCW 59.12.030, it sits in a statutorily limited capacity and lacks authority to resolve issues outside the scope of the unlawful detainer statute. See Sprincin King St. Partners v. Sound Conditioning Club, Inc., 84 Wn. App. 56, 66-68, 925 P.2d 217 (1996); First Union Mgmt., Inc. v. Slack, 36 Wn. App. 849, 853-55, 679 P.2d 936 (1984).

Angelo Property Co. v. Hafiz, 2012 Wash.App. LEXIS 881 (Ct. App., Div. 2, Filed April 17, 2012) (emphasis added). The Washington Supreme Court has recognized an exception for counterclaims "based on facts which excuse a tenant's breach," citing as permissible examples, breach of implied warranty of habitability and breach of covenant of quiet enjoyment. Munden, 105 Wn.2d at 45. This exception does not apply to the present case. Pursuant to RCW 61.24.060, Bank of New York Mellon was entitled to possession of the Subject Property on December 23, 2010, the twentieth day following the trustee's sale.

Here, the Townleys' Opening Brief does not assert what error was done by the Trial Court other than general conclusions that it should not have been denied. The evidence shows that Bank of New York is entitled to possession and the Townleys failed to raise any issues within the context of possession. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. (hereinafter "Northwest Trustee") served as the Trustee in the non-judicial foreclosure of the property commonly known as 23639 SE 267th Place, Maple Valley, WA 98038 ("Subject Property" or the "Property"). In its capacity as Trustee, on or about September 14, 2010, Northwest Trustee recorded an Amended Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting a sale date of October 29, 2010. This Notice was recorded with the King County Recorder's Office under recording number 20100914001311. CP 32, Exh. A. Bank of New York Mellon purchased the Subject Property at the trustee's sale on December 3, 2010. As evidence of its purchase, Northwest Trustee executed a Trustee's Deed to Bank of New York Mellon. CP 32, Exh. B. The Trustee's Deed was recorded with the King County Recorder's Office on December 10,2010 under recording number 20101210001799.

Subsequently, a notice to vacate was served. CP 32, Affidavit of Grigsby. Bank of New York filed its complaint in this action on February 24, 2012. In response to the complaint, on March 8, 2012, Townley filed a document titled "Defendants' Objection in Response to Plaintiffs' Unlawful Detainer Action Against Defendants." On March 13, 2012 Defendants Townley filed a document titled "Defendants' Answer and Affirmative

Defenses to Plaintiff Summons and Complaint." On or about April 30, 2012, Bank of New York Mellon filed a Motion for Writ of Restitution. CP 32. The matter came on for hearing on May 17, 2012, and the Court granted the motion for Writ of Restitution. CP 70. Thus, there is no dispute that Bank of New York Mellon purchased the Subject Property at the trustee's sale. Accordingly, the Court should uphold the Trial Court's Order for Writ of Restitution.

D. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE TOWNLEYS' PETITION FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF BECAUSE THE ISSUES ARE OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF AN UNLAWFUL DETAINER ACTION.

On May 10, 2012, the Honorable Leroy McCullough correctly denied the Townleys' Petition for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief as the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the Townleys' claims. CP 53. The Court correctly ruled on this issue.

In the Petition for declaratory and injunctive relief, the Townleys seek an order from the Court to review alleged fraudulent documents and records of alleged "mortgage fraud." CP 11. Respondents, Bank of New York Mellon, Ocwen and MERS filed their response to the Petition for Declaratory Judgment. CP 47. At the hearing on the motion, the Honorable Leroy McCullough correctly denied the Townleys' Petition for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief as the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the Townleys' claims. CP 53. The Townleys' claims are outside the scope of the Trial Court's statutorily limited jurisdiction in an unlawful detainer action; therefore, the Court correctly ruled that it lacked authority to resolve such claims.

Moreover, the Townleys' claims are barred by statute. Even if the claims were considered in the unlawful detainer jurisdiction (which the Trial Court did not), the Townleys' claims for declaratory and injunctive relief would be precluded from statute. It is undisputed that the Townleys failed to enjoin the trustee's sale, and as a result, the Townleys' post-sale remedies are limited. "A party waives the right to postsale remedies where the party (1) received notice of the right to enjoin the sale, (2) had actual or constructive knowledge of a defense to foreclosure prior to the sale, and (3) failed to bring an action to obtain a court order enjoining the sale." *Brown v. Household Realty Corp.*, 146 Wn. App. 157, 163 (2008) *citing to Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wash.2d 214, 221 (Wash. 2003). If the borrower has knowledge of a defense to the trustee's sale but fails to enjoin the sale, the borrower waives any claims related to the underlying obligation and the sale itself. *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wash.2d 214, 227-228 (2003).

RCW 61.24.127 permits a borrower to bring post-sale claims for common law fraud, misrepresentation and CPA violations, but expressly states that such claims "may not seek any remedy at law or in equity other than monetary damages," and "may not affect in any way the validity or finality of the foreclosure sale or a subsequent transfer of the property." RCW 61.24.127 is set forth below in pertinent part:

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